THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

FEB 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-CP-16-0792  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000840

---

State Farm Mutual Automobile  
Insurance Company, ..... Respondent,

v.

Beverly Goyeneche, David R. Gray, III, and  
Amanda Goyeneche (a/k/a Amanda Goyeneche-Gray),  
individually and as Parent and Natural Guardian of S.G., ..... Defendants,

Of whom  
Beverly Goyeneche and Amanda Goyeneche are ..... Appellants.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

John S. Nichols, SC Bar No. 4210  
Bluestein, Nichols, Thompson & Delgado, LLC

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in holding that the automobile policies in this matter did not provide coverage for Infant's death under *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aytes*, 332 S.C. 30, 503 S.E.2d 744 (1998)?
  - A. The circuit court erroneously held there was no causal connection between the ownership, maintenance or use of Father's truck and Infant's death.
  - B. The circuit court erroneously held "while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting a child in the vehicle for an extended period of time is not."
  - C. The circuit court erroneously held any causal connection between the vehicle and Infant's death was broken by an act of independent significance, that is, Father's exiting the car and "abandoning" or "desertion" of Infant.
  - D. The circuit court erroneously held even if there was a causal connection and there was no act of independent significance that broke the causal connection, the truck was not being used for transportation at the time of Infant's death.
- II. Did the circuit court err in rejecting foreign authority Defendants cited as contrary to the test set forth in *Aytes*?
- III. Did the circuit court err in holding that Infant was a resident of Mother's household only and was not also a "resident relative" of Father for purposes of Motor Vehicle Insurance Coverage?
- IV. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Appellants failed to preserve the issue of Infant's residence by failing to raise the issue in their motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 24, 2014, State Farm sued Beverly Goyeneche (“Grandmother”), David Gray (“Father”), and Amanda Goyeneche (a/k/a Amanda Goyeneche-Gray)(“Mother”), individually and as Parent and Natural Guardian of “S.G.” (“Infant”). State Farm sought a declaration that none of the policies it issued to Defendants provided coverage for Infant’s death. State Farm also sought a declaration that it owed no duty to defend or indemnify any of the defendants for Infant’s death.

On October 22, 2014, Father filed an answer denying all allegations of the Complaint. On October 30, 2014, Mother and Grandmother filed a joint Answer and Counterclaim in which they generally admitted most of the factual allegations of the complaint, denied others, and asserted that Infant’s death arose out of the operation, ownership, maintenance or use of the vehicles covered by the various policies. Mother and Grandmother joined in State Farm’s request for declaratory relief, but sought a declaration that the policies did, in fact, provide coverage. On November 26, 2014, State Farm filed a Reply to the Answer and Counterclaim.

Following discovery the parties stipulated certain facts. On April 7, 2015, the circuit court held a bench trial in the matter and on June 1, 2015, the court entered an order finding State Farm’s policies did not provide coverage and further that Infant was a resident solely of mother’s home. Defendants received notice of the entry of the order on June 5, 2015, and on June 15, 2015, moved the court to alter or amend the judgment. Following a hearing on the motion the circuit court entered an order denying the motion on March 23, 2016. Mother and Grandmother appealed those rulings.

## FACTS

The underlying facts of this case are tragic. Infant was born April 8, 2013, to Mother and Father, who never married and who lived in different homes. Mother and Father shared custody whereby one parent would keep Infant for four days each week, the other parent would have her the other three days, and they alternated weeks in which a parent had the four days and the other had three days. This was an agreed arrangement without a court order. Mother lived with her parents, and that address was the principal address for documentation for Infant.

On May 7, 2014, Infant spent the night with Father. On the morning of May 8, 2014, Father placed Infant in her car seat in his truck and was to have transported her to Children's Corner Daycare School. Father failed to deliver her, however, instead driving directly to his work where he parked his truck, turned off the ignition, got out of the truck, and went into work. Father left Infant unattended in the truck from about 9:30 a.m. until about 1:00 p.m., when he returned to his truck, went to lunch, and went to Mother's home to retrieve clothing items from Mother for Infant. Father then returned to work and again unknowingly left the child alone in the truck from about 2:30 p.m. to 5:15 p.m.

Mother went to pick Infant up from daycare at 5:00 p.m. When she arrived the staff told Mother they had not seen Infant that day. Mother called Father, who immediately realized Infant must still be in his truck. Father rushed to the truck and removed Infant from her car seat and the extremely hot vehicle. Father took Infant into his workplace and someone called EMS. Infant was transported to the emergency room but was pronounced dead shortly thereafter from complications of hyperthermia.

### **Stipulated Facts**

The parties entered into the following factual stipulations. Father and Mother were the parents of Infant, and Beverly Goyeneche is Amanda's mother and was Infant's grandmother. Infant was 13-months old at the time of her death.

On May 8, 2014, Father was to deliver Infant to daycare but failed to do so. Instead, Infant was left unattended in the back seat of Father's Ford pickup while it was parked at Carolina Printing Sports and Trophy, his place of employment. The ignition of the truck was off from about 9:30 a.m. until about 1:00 p.m. and again from about 2:30 p.m. until 5:15 p.m. on that day. Infant was found unresponsive in Father's truck and at the time the vehicle was turned off and unoccupied by any other person. Infant was pronounced dead at about 5:50 p.m. from complications related to hyperthermia.

State Farm issued four insurance policies relative to this matter:

1. Policy No. 4891-309-40, to Father, insuring the Ford pickup truck and providing Liability and UIM coverage of \$25,000 per person, \$50,000 per occurrence, and \$25,000 property damage.
2. Policy No. C483241E, to Mother, insuring a 2013 Jeep Wrangler and providing Liability and UIM coverage of \$50,000 per person, \$100,000 per occurrence, and \$25,000 property damage.
3. Policy No. 1003667A to Grandmother, insuring a 2004 Chevrolet Impala and providing Liability and UIM coverage of \$50,000 per person, \$100,000 per occurrence, and \$25,000 property damage.
4. Policy No. 1772085A to Grandmother, insuring a 2007 C1500 and providing

Liability and UIM coverage of \$50,000 per person, \$100,000 per occurrence, and \$25,000 property damage.

These policies provided coverage for those “bodily injuries and property damage caused by an accident and arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the insured automobile, and otherwise subject to the terms of the policy.” (R. pp. 35-36). Mother presented a claim for loss under the liability and UIM coverages under all four policies for Infant’s death.

The parties disputed the minor’s residence. Father indicated through discovery that Mother was Infant’s primary custodial parent. Mother asserted Infant was a resident relative of both Father’s household and Mother’s household.

### **Order**

The circuit court granted declaratory relief for State Farm, and denied Appellants’ request for a declaration of coverage. The court held that Infant’s death “did not arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a vehicle” so that the claims were excluded from coverage. (R. p. 2).

The court adopted the parties’ factual stipulations. (R. pp. 2-7). The court also found the preponderance of the evidence established that Infant lived with Mother and Grandmother and was a “resident relative of only the mother’s household.” (R. pp. 7, 13).

The circuit court stated the ruling was controlled by a three-part test set forth in *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aytes*, 332 S.C. 30, 503 S.E.2d 744 (1998). The trial court noted “although[] the vehicle was the site of her untimely death, no evidence has been

presented that the death was caused by anything but hyperthermia.” (R. p. 9). The court stated “no evidence has been presented in this case that the vehicle was an active accessory to the death.” (R. p. 9-10). The court added “while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting of a small child in the vehicle for an extended period of time is not.” (R. p. 10). Thus, the circuit court held there was no causal connection between the vehicle and Infant’s death.

Next, the court stated that even if a causal connection existed between the vehicle and Infant’s death, “it was broken by an act of independent significance.” (R. p. 10). The court held:

In the case sub judice, it is stipulated that the driver, [Father], turned off the ignition and left the vehicle unattended in a parking lot. The unattended vehicle was not occupied by anyone other than the minor decedent for seven hours and fifteen minutes. Abandoning the minor was an act of negligence attenuated from the use of the vehicle. [Father’s] desertion of the minor was an act of independent significance thereby breaking any causal link between the vehicle and the death of the minor. Just as our courts have determined the causal link was broken when an assailant exited the vehicle and committed an assault, so[, too,] was the causal link broken when [Father] exited his vehicle and abandoned his 13 month old child for more than seven hours. The act of abandoning a child is not vehicular conduct.

(R. p. 11).

Finally, the court stated that even if a causal connection existed and there was no act of independent significance that broke the causal connection, the *Aytes* requirement that the vehicle be used for transportation at the time of the injury was not satisfied. (R. p. 11). The court held:

It is stipulated that [Father] turned off the ignition, exited the vehicle, and left [Infant] in the unattended vehicle for seven hours and fifteen minutes.

It is further stipulated that [Infant] died in the unattended parked vehicle from complications related to hyperthermia. At the time of [Infant's] death the vehicle was admittedly parked and unattended for an extended period of time. Therefore, the vehicle was incapable of being used for transportation purposes and as such fails to satisfy the "use for transportation requirement" of the *Aytes* test.

(R. p. 12).

Regarding Infant's residency, the circuit court stated:

The court further finds that the preponderance of evidence establishes that the minor lived with her mother and grandmother at 1112 Salem Road, Hartsville, SC (hereinafter "mother's household"). The father's admissions, the manner in which the minor was documented as a resident of the mother's household, and the brief and irregular visits with the father leads to the conclusion that the minor was a resident relative of only the mother's household.

(R., p. 7; see also p. 13).

Appellants moved the circuit court to reconsider its ruling. The parties filed memoranda in support and in opposition to the motion. Following a hearing the circuit court entered an order denying Appellants' motion.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

Appellants assert the circuit court erred in concluding Infant's death did not arise out of the "ownership, maintenance or use" of Father's vehicle at the time of Infant's death. Appellants also contend the circuit court erred in concluding Infant was a resident of Mother's home only, and was not considered also a "resident relative" of Father's home for purposes of coverage under his motor vehicle coverage. The Court should reverse the circuit court's ruling in favor of State Farm and remand for entry of judgment in favor of Appellants as to both points.

**I. The Circuit Court Erred in Ruling That the Policies at Issue in this Matter Did Not Provide Coverage for Infant's Death Under *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aytes*, 332, S.C. 30, 503 S.E.2d 744 (1998), and in Denying Relief to Appellants**

The circuit court erroneously applied South Carolina law in finding the policies precluded coverage in this case. Under the appropriate view of the law, all of the policies in this case provide coverage for Infant's tragic death. This Court should reverse.

**A. The circuit court erroneously held there was no causal connection between the "ownership, maintenance or use" of Father's truck and Infant's death**

The circuit court granted State Farm's motion for relief and denied Appellants' claim for coverage under the policies, relying almost exclusively on the test set forth in *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aytes*, 332, S.C. 30, 503 S.E.2d 744 (1998). The Supreme Court in *Aytes* "restated the test for determining when an individual's personal injuries arise out of the 'ownership, maintenance, or use' of an automobile such that they are covered by an automobile insurance policy." *Doe v. South Carolina State Budget and*

*Control Bd.*, 337 S.C. 294, 296, 523 S.E.2d 457, 458 (1999). The Court in *Aytes* set forth the following three part test:

1. There exists a causal connection between the vehicle and the injury; and
2. No act of independent significance breaks the causal link; and
3. The vehicle is being used for transportation at the time of the assault.

*Doe*, at 296-297, 532 S.E.2d at 458.

In the context of injuries caused by the driver committing an assault upon another person, the *Aytes* Court held “causal connection” means:

- a. the vehicle was an “active accessory” to the assault; and
- b. something less than proximate cause but more than mere site of the injury;  
and
- c. the “injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the automobile.”

*Doe*, at 297, 532 S.E.2d at 458 (applying the test where a police officer declined to charge female drivers with DUI in exchange for engaging in sexual acts; Court held the officer’s actions failed the *Aytes* test and further the assaults were acts of independent significance which broke any causal link).

The circuit court held under the *Aytes* test, there was no causal connection between the “ownership, maintenance or use” of Father’s truck and Infant’s death, as there was no evidence the vehicle was an “active accessory” to the death. (R. pp. 9-10). The court also held that Father’s neglect acted as an act of independent significance to break the causal connection between the vehicle and Infant’s death. (R. pp. 10-11).

Finally, the court found the “transportation” element of the *Aytes* test was not satisfied. (R. pp. 11-12). The circuit court misapplied the holding in *Aytes* in denying Appellants’ coverage under State Farm’s policies. This Court should reverse.

South Carolina’s appellate courts have not addressed whether automobile insurance policies cover the factual scenario of this case. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, however, addressed the issue in *Lincoln General Ins. Co. v. Aisha’s Learning Ctr.*, 468 F.3d 857 (5th Cir. 2006). In *Lincoln General*, a van owned and operated by ALC transported a two year old child from her home to the daycare center. Upon arriving at ALC, the driver did not unload the child along with the other children. The child was trapped in the parked van for approximately seven hours while the external temperature reached 95 degrees Fahrenheit. Her mother sued ALC to redress the resulting injuries.

ALC had a Commercial General Liability (CGL) policy with Lincoln General that contained an exclusion for injuries “arising out of the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any ... auto.” Lincoln General brought a declaratory judgment action in federal court to enforce the exclusion, arguing the child’s injuries arose from the “use” of ALC’s van. The district court found for Lincoln General, holding the automobile exclusion precluded coverage under the CGL policy.

The Fifth Circuit affirmed. The Court held under *Mid-Century Ins. Co. v. Lindsey*, 997 S.W.2d 153, 156 (Tex. 1999), the child’s injuries “arose from the use of ALC’s van.” The Court stated:

\* \* \* First, her injuries occurred while the van was being used for one of its inherent purposes: transportation of children to ALC. Although the van was no longer in motion, its purpose - as to McCann - had not yet

been fulfilled and was thus ongoing. Second, the accident occurred within the van's natural territorial limits before the actual use - the transportation of McCann to ALC - terminated.

Third, the vehicle caused, rather than merely contributed to, the conditions that produced the injury. [The child] was injured because she was left in a hot, unventilated vehicle by the driver. The vehicle was not merely the situs of the injury, but a producing cause. Unfortunately, the danger of leaving children in locked vehicles during extreme weather conditions is well known; it is a danger inherent in the manner in which automobiles trap heat. The same dangers are not found in classrooms or parks. Thus, "but for" the use of the van to transport [the child], she would not have been injured.

Finally, the *Lindsey* court noted the importance of intent: "Whether a person is using a vehicle as a vehicle depends not only on his conduct but on his intent." 997 S.W.2d at 156. In this case, the intent of all parties was to use the van to transport the child to ALC. Although the consequences of that use clearly were not intended, this does not negate the fact that the parties placed the young child in the van intending to use it for transportation.

468 F.3d at 860-861. The Fifth Circuit noted its conclusion was in accord with other courts that considered the issue, stating:

This conclusion is in accord with the holdings of other courts that have considered the issue. In *St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Chilton-Shelby Mental Health Ctr.*, 595 So.2d 1375 (Ala. 1992), the Supreme Court of Alabama held that an automobile exclusion in a general liability insurance policy precluded coverage where an infant suffered a heat-related death after being left unattended in a van. Although the negligence did not relate specifically to the driving of the van, "the fact remain[ed] that [the child] died in the van while it was being used by the Center to provide transportation services ...." *Id.* at 1377.

Citing *St. Paul*, other courts have enforced auto exclusions in these circumstances. For example, in a similar case, a Maryland appeals court found that, under the plain meaning of the policy's terms, coverage was excluded. *Gallegos v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 144 Md. App. 213, 797 A.2d 795, 808-09 (Md. App.2002). The result did not change just because the van was not moving at the time of the injury. *Id.* at 808. Most recently, a California court cited that State's expansive view of the term "use" and the

disinclination to find overlapping coverage between the auto and general liability policies. *Prince v. United Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 142 Cal. App.4th 233, 47 Cal. Rptr.3d 727, 733 (Cal. App.2006). The court accordingly held that the "relationship between the use of the automobile and the injury was sufficient to trigger the exclusion." *Id.* at 735. The court observed that the type of rapid onset hyperthermia that killed the children occurs almost exclusively in motor vehicles, making the car an instrumentality, rather than mere situs, of the injury. *Id.*

468 F.3d at 861. The Fifth Circuit noted a case from the Sixth Circuit that was in accord, stating:

*See also [Capitol] Indem. Corp. v. Braxton*, 24 Fed. Appx. 434 (6th Cir.2001) (unpublished). The insurance exclusion at issue was identical to the one here, see *id.* at 438, and the hyperthermia-induced death was similarly caused. The court found that the accident arose out of the use of the vehicle, as an unduly narrow interpretation would "defeat the evident purpose of the exclusion." *Id.* at 442."

468 F.3d at 861, n. 4.

The Fifth Circuit also rejected an Illinois case that went the other way, stating:

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