RECEIVED

FEB 21 2017

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-16-0792
Appellate Case No. 2016-000840

State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance Company Respondent,

v.

Beverly Goyeneche, David R. Gray, III, and
Amanda Goyeneche(a/k/a Amanda Goyeneche -Gray),
individually and as Parent and Natural Guardian of S.G. Defendants,

Of Whom
Beverly Goyeneche and Amanda Goyeneche are Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DuBOSE-ROBINSON, PC
Jonathan M. Robinson, Bar No. 68285
PO Drawer 39
Camden, SC 29021-0039
jon@duboselaw.com
(803) 254-5445 - telephone

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

Other cases which have held that the vehicle was an active accessory to the injury involved situations in which the *operation* of the vehicle was an

essential part of the injury (see *Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser*, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992) (finding coverage where only through use of his vehicle was the assailant able to closely pursue victim, thereby enabling him to carry out pistol assault) and *Home Ins. Co. v. Towe*, 314 S.C. 105, 441 S.E.2d 825 (1994) (injuries sustained by a victim when he was struck by a bottle thrown by a passenger in a passing car were covered where “the use of the automobile placed [assailant] in the position to throw the bottle at the sign and the vehicle's speed contributed to the velocity of the bottle increasing the seriousness of [victim's] injuries.)). Here, no evidence has been presented in this case that the vehicle was an active accessory to the death. This court is bound by the facts in evidence. *Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649 (2006) (holding “It is well established that counsel's statements regarding the facts of a case and counsel's arguments are not admissible evidence”). Additionally, while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting of a small child in the vehicle for an extended period of time is not.

(R. pp. 9-10).

The circuit court correctly distinguished cases such as *Wausau* and *Home Ins. Co.* from the present case noting that in those cases it was only through the use and *operation* of the moving vehicles that the injury could have occurred. The circuit court's conclusion that there was no causal connection between the ownership, maintenance, or use of the Father's truck and the Infant's death should be affirmed.

B. The circuit properly held that “while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting a child in the vehicle for an extended period of time is not.”

Appellants argue that the circuit court erred in holding that “while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting a child in the vehicle for an extended period of time is not.” Appellants first assert that the circuit court applied the *Aytes* test “outside of the context of the test *Aytes* announced.” Appellants misapply the holding in *Aytes*. The *Aytes* Court does not narrowly define its analysis, as Appellants suggest, to the “context” of cases involving an intentional act or

assault. In fact, the word “context” does not even appear in the *Aytes* decision. While the *Aytes* Court does not mention “context”, the *Bookert* Court does. The *Bookert* Court reiterated that the *Aytes* Court defined the meaning of “causal connection” in the “context” of the three-part test. *State Farm Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bookert*, 337 S.C. 291, 293, 523 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1999) (“In this context, causal connection means: a. the vehicle was an “active accessory” to the assault; and b. something less than proximate cause but more than mere site of the injury; and c. that the “injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the automobile.”). Furthermore, as noted in *Pealger*, “The three-part test in *Aytes* applies regardless of whether the injury occurred as a result of an intentional assault or an accident. The focus is on the extent of the role, if any, the vehicle played in causing the injuries or damage, or whether a particular activity is a covered use as required by statute or a policy provision.” *Peagler v USAA Ins. Co.* 368 S.C. at 160, 628 S.E.2d at 479 (2006).

The circuit court correctly concluded that while the transport of children is certainly a foreseeable use of the vehicle, the negligent act of deserting of a small child in the vehicle for an extended period of time was not. (R. p. 10).

C. The circuit court properly held that even if the court were to determine that a causal connection exists between the vehicle and the minor’s death, it was broken by an act of independent significance.

The circuit found that even if the court were to determine that a causal connection exists between the vehicle and the minor’s death, it was broken by an act of independent significance. See *Aytes*, 332 S.C. at 35, 503 S.E.2d at 746 (“[I]f there was a causal link, it was broken when the assailant exited the vehicle.”); *Doe v. South Carolina State Budget & Control Bd.*, 329 S.C. 214, 219, 494 S.E.2d 469, 471 (1997), *aff’d*, 337 S.C. 294, 523

S.E.2d 457 (1999) (“Even if we were to hold that Appellants had satisfied the first prong of the test and had demonstrated a causal connection between the vehicle and the injury, we believe Roberson's assaults of Appellants were acts of independent significance which broke the causal chain.”); *Wright*, 337 S.C. at 427, 523 S.E.2d at 476 (“[T]he assault of the gunmen broke any causal connection between the vehicle and Rogers' injury because it arose from an act of independent significance.”). (R. p. 10).

Appellants do not address that the trial court’s ruling that the act of abandoning a child was an act of independent significance thereby breaking any causal link. Rather, Appellants argue that because the intended purpose of using the vehicle to go to daycare had not been fulfilled, the minor’s death was not “wholly disassociated from, independent of, and remote from that use.” (Appellants cite *Hite v. Hartford Acc. and Indem. Co.*, 288 S.C. 616, 344 S.E.2d 173 (S.C. Ct. App. 1986) where the Court actually declined coverage and held that permissive user was not using covered automobile when he was injured in parking lot while outside of car.) Determining whether there was an act of independent significance which breaks the causal link is a separate and independent requirement which must be analyzed as part of the three-part test. *Doe v. South Carolina State Budget & Control Bd.*, 329 S.C. 214, 219, 494 S.E.2d 469, 471 (1997), *aff’d*, 337 S.C. 294, 523 S.E.2d 457 (1999). Appellants argue that since the “purpose” of the trip was not completed, no act of independent significance occurred which broke the causal link. Appellants make reference to a 1969 case which was cited in *Wausau* in support of this position. Prior to the adoption of the *Aytes* test, the *Wausau* court held that “Once causation is established, the court must determine if an act of independent significance occurred breaking the causal link.” *Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser*, 309 S.C. at

269, 273 422 S.E.2d 106, 108 (1992). The *Wausau* court stated:

In *Plaxco v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co.*, 252 S.C. 437, 166 S.E.2d 799 (1969) the vehicle's battery was used to start the engine of an airplane. Once this was accomplished, the airplane's brakes failed, causing it to move forward and damage another plane. The Court found the only connection between the vehicle and the plane was the use of the vehicle to start the plane. Since that purpose had been completed when the plane moved forward, any causal connection was broken and the accident resulted from the use of the plane and not the vehicle.

Id. at 273, 108

Appellants place emphasis on the phrases "*Once this was accomplished*" and "*Since that purpose had been completed when the plane moved forward, any causal connection was broken and the accident resulted from the use of the plane and not the vehicle*". Appellants' reliance on these phrases is misplaced. The *Wausau* court posited that "...any causal connection was broken and the accident resulted from the use of the plane and not the vehicle." However, a reading of the *Plaxco* case reveals that in declining to afford coverage under the auto policy, the *Plaxco* court case held that the connection between the plane and vehicle was coincidental only and that the accident did not result from the use of the automobile.

The accident in question did not result from the use of plaintiff's automobile. The only connection between the automobile and the airplane was the use of the automobile battery to start the airplane engine. This purpose had been completed when the airplane moved forward, after the brakes failed to hold. We find nothing in the facts or circumstances to show a causal connection between the use of the automobile battery as a source of power to start the airplane engine and the subsequent forward movement of the airplane. As stated by the trial judge, 'the power source was coincidental only.' The facts show that the accident resulted from the use of the airplane and not the insured automobile.

Plaxco v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co., 252 S.C. 437, 441, 166 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1969)

The Appellants' contortion of this isolated phrase from a case referring to another case in support of what would later become the second prong of the *Aytes* test is misplaced. In *Wausau*, the vehicle was being actively used for transportation during an ongoing assault. In this case, the father exited the vehicle, thereby abandoning the child, which is no less of an assault than those committed in cases where the victim was shot or strangled or suffocated. As the circuit court properly noted:

In the case sub judice, it is stipulated that the driver, Defendant Gray, turned off the ignition and left the vehicle unattended in a parking lot. The unattended vehicle was not occupied by anyone other than the minor decedent for seven hours and fifteen minutes. Abandoning the minor was an act of negligence attenuated from the use of the vehicle. Defendant Gray's desertion of the minor was an act of independent significance thereby breaking any causal link between the vehicle and the death of the minor. Just as our courts have determined the causal link was broken when an assailant exited the vehicle and committed an assault, so to was the causal link broken when Defendant Gray exited his vehicle and abandoned his 13 month old child for more than seven hours. The act of abandoning a child is not vehicular conduct.

(R. p. 11).

This court should affirm the circuit court's decision and dismiss the appeal.

D. The circuit court properly held that even if a causal connection existed and that there was no act of independent significance that broke the causal connection, the third element of the *Aytes* test—that the vehicle be used for transportation at the time of the injury—is not satisfied.

The circuit court correctly held that "Even if a causal connection existed and that there was no act of independent significance that broke the causal connection, the third element of the *Aytes* test—that the vehicle be used for transportation at the time of the injury—is not satisfied". (R. p. 11). The transportation use requirement was first established in *Canal Ins. Co. v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 315 S.C. 1, 431 S.E.2d 577 (1993). In *Canal*, the Court declined to extend coverage wherein a truck crane lifted

a condenser onto the roof of respondent's building. While lifting the condenser, the crane became unbalanced and tipped over, crashing into the building. The Court established the requirement that the term "use of vehicle" be limited to transportation uses.

We now construe § 38-77-140 and define "use of a motor vehicle" as limited to transportation uses. This is the definition used in *Continental Western Ins. Co. v. Klug*, 415 N.W.2d 876 (Minn.1987), a case upon which this Court relied in *Wausau*. See also *Classified Ins. Corp. v. Vodinelich*, 368 N.W.2d 921 (Minn.1985) (coverage not mandated where auto used by insured to commit suicide in garage and her children were accidentally asphyxiated in the home); *Waldbillig v. St. Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 321 N.W.2d 49 (Minn.1982) (coverage not mandated where insured's hand was injured working on backhoe permanently mounted on back of truck). Such a construction of § 38-77-140 is consistent with legislative intent to mandate coverage for the benefit of the public since it encompasses those uses foreseeable to the parties to an automobile insurance policy."

Canal Ins. Co. v. Insurance Co. of North America, 315 S.C. at 4, 431 S.E.2d at 579 (1993).

As the circuit court noted, "Since 1993 our courts have required that a vehicle be used for transportation purposes in order to fall within the "use and operation" definition found in statute and insurance policies. Our courts have held a parked vehicle, even when occupied, does not meet the third requirement of *Aytes* if the vehicle is not being used for transportation at the time of injury." In support of the circuit court's finding, the court cited *Doe v. South Carolina State Budget and Control Bd.*, et al, 337 S.C. 294, 523 S.E.2d 457 (1999). In *Doe* a police officer forced individuals to have sex with him in his parked vehicle in order to avoid arrest. The Court held the claimants could not meet the *Aytes* requirements inasmuch as the cruiser was not being used for transportation at the time of the assaults, it was not an "active accessory," and the petitioners' acceptance of Roberson's offers were acts of independent significance which broke any causal link.

Id. See also *Nationwide Property & Cas. Co. v. Lain*, 402 F.Supp.2d 644 (D.S.C. 2005) (applying the *Aytes* test, court declined to extend coverage where an individual was strangled in the back seat of a vehicle finding there was no causal relationship; there was an act of independent significance; and the vehicle was not being used for transportation at the time of injury.)

It is stipulated that the driver, Defendant Gray, turned off the ignition and left the vehicle unattended in a parking lot. The unattended vehicle was not occupied by anyone other than the minor decedent for seven hours and fifteen minutes. The vehicle was incapable of transportation during the time period for which the minor suffered injuries and death. Therefore, the circuit court should be affirmed in its finding that the vehicle was not being used for transportation at the time of injury and that the minor's claim is excluded from coverage.

II. The circuit court properly rejected the cases from foreign jurisdictions which apply an analysis in determining coverage which is contrary to South Carolina law.

Appellants have been unable to identify any authority applying the three-part test adopted by South Carolina that extends coverage for the death of the minor under the facts in evidence in this case. Appellants urge this court to depart from the three-part analysis undertaken by South Carolina courts. Appellants, in one instance, did not attempt to distinguish a South Carolina District court case, *Lain*, in which coverage was declined but rather argued to the circuit court that they simply disagreed with the ruling, that declined to extend coverage after applying the three-part test., (R. p. 59), *Nationwide Property & Cas. Co. v. Lain*, 402 F.Supp.2d 644 (D.S.C. 2005). We submit that the District Court properly applied the *Aytes* test thereby reaching the same

conclusion that should be rendered in the present case.

Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992) and *Chapman v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1975) are the only South Carolina cases cited by Appellants in which coverage was extended. Unlike the parked and unattended vehicle in the present case, *Wausau* involved a shooting injury *during a vehicular chase* and, as such, being used for transportation was not an issue. See *Canal Ins. Co. v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 315 S.C. 1, 431 S.E.2d 577 (1993). (“In *Wausau*, however, we specifically declined to decide whether the vehicle must be used for transportation at the time of the injury to be included in mandatory coverage.”) In *Chapman v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1975) the Court held injuries to guest, who fell from uninsured motorist’s *moving* automobile, were caused by accident and arose out of the ownership, maintenance or use of an uninsured automobile, and thus were within coverage afforded by guest’s father’s automobile liability policy. The remaining South Carolina cases cited by Appellants declined to extend coverage.

In an effort obtain coverage, the Appellants turn to cases from foreign jurisdictions which apply substantively different analysis to the issue in the case sub judice. Appellants acknowledge and the circuit court affirms that cases cited come from foreign jurisdictions and have no precedential value but should be considered to the extent not in conflict with South Carolina law. However, as noted by the circuit court, these cases are in conflict with South Carolina law. (R. pp. 7-8). Appellants now seek to alter the three-part test established by our Supreme Court by interjecting analysis and conclusions applied in foreign jurisdictions using legal principles and interpretations

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